FILED 09-20-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2021AP001133-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL L. NELSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Kenosha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Larisa V. Benitez-Morgan Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DAVID MALKUS

Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1094027

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 malkusd@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Where Mr. Nelson filed a postconviction motion seeking plea withdrawal based on ineffective assistance of counsel, and alleged that he pled guilty based on his trial counsel's incorrect advice that pleading to disorderly conduct could result in a temporary rather than permanent loss of his gun rights, is Mr. Nelson entitled to a *Machner*¹ hearing?

The circuit court answered no.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Nelson does not request oral argument because the briefs will fully address the issue presented. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b). This is a one-judge appeal under Wis. Stat. § 752.31(2)-(3); therefore, a request for publication is prohibited by Wis. Stat. § 809.23(4)(b).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 27, 2020, the State filed a complaint charging Mr. Nelson with one count of disorderly conduct with use of a weapon, one count of operating a firearm while intoxicated, and one count of resisting

¹ See State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

an officer. (2:1-2). The State alleged that the disorderly conduct charge was an act of domestic abuse under Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a), and that conviction for this offense would subject Mr. Nelson to the domestic abuse assessment. (2:1).

According to the complaint, police responded to the scene of a family disturbance on April 26, 2020, following a 911 call from Mr. Nelson's wife which alleged that Mr. Nelson was intoxicated and beating up his adult children. Upon arrival, police observed Mr. Nelson being physically restrained by his daughter and son. Police also observed that Mr. Nelson was intoxicated and in possession of a gun. Mr. Nelson refused to comply with commands from police, but police were able to physically restrain him and place him under arrest. (2:2-4).

Following the arrest, police took statements from Mr. Nelson's wife and children. According to Mr. Nelson's son and daughter, K.N. and V.N., there was a verbal argument between Mr. Nelson and K.N. that when V.N. became involved escalated argument. Both K.N. and V.N. reported that Mr. Nelson was not physically violent towards them but had pulled out a gun and threatened to shoot himself. K.N. also reported that, before pulling out the gun, Mr. Nelson had gotten in his face and made K.N. fear for his own safety. According to Mr. Nelson's wife, T.N., Mr. Nelson had been verbally aggressive with her for no reason and she went to the bathroom to get away from him. T.N. stated that she then overheard Mr. Nelson get into a verbal argument with their children

Filed 09-20-2021

and heard a loud slap, whereupon she left the bathroom and found V.N. holding her face and crying. (2:4-6).

Subsequently, Mr. Nelson reached a plea agreement with the State. Pursuant to the agreement, Mr. Nelson pled guilty to disorderly conduct with use of a weapon as an act of domestic abuse, and operating a firearm while intoxicated. (26:2). The State moved to dismiss and read-in the resisting an officer charge and recommend probation, but remained free to argue as to the conditions of probation. (Id.). At sentencing, the Court withheld sentence and placed Mr. Nelson on two years of probation on each count with six months of conditional jail for disorderly conduct and three months of concurrent conditional jail for operating a firearm while intoxicated. (26:28-30).

Thereafter, Mr. Nelson filed a motion for postconviction relief seeking plea withdrawal on the grounds that trial counsel had misadvised him that pleading guilty to disorderly conduct could result in a temporary rather than permanent loss of his gun rights. (34:1; App. 24). The motion noted that under federal and state law, Mr. Nelson's disorderly conduct offense could result in a permanent, not temporary, loss of his gun rights. (34:5-6; App. 28-29). The motion further stated that at a *Machner* hearing, Mr. Nelson would testify that he was a longtime gun owner, had worked as a security guard, and would not have pled guilty but for the incorrect advice he received from trial counsel regarding his gun rights. (34:6-7; App. 29-30).

The circuit court held a postconviction hearing on June 11, 2021. At the outset of the hearing, the court confirmed that it would proceed with testimony from Mr. Nelson and his trial counsel. (36:2-3; App. 7-8). However, in the response to a question from the State regarding the sufficiency of the postconviction motion, the court stated the following:

> I think the argument that [the State] is trying to make is that there is not enough clarity....

> [Mr. Nelson] said he would testify to the following: his trial attorney advised him that pleading guilty to disorderly conduct could have a temporary rather than a permanent effect on his right to possess a firearm.

> So what does that mean? That it could be temporary, right? If something is not temporary, then what is it by default? It's permanent. It's either one or the other. It just doesn't go away. It's not nonexistent but -- and that's what we're saying. ... So a lot of these are could's. We don't know yet. There's no definitive fact but did he say it or did he not? Nobody knows.

> You present-- Or the other option that I would not have to have a hearing would be if you presented conclusory allegations or a subjective opinion. Subjective opinion I think is -- is rampant throughout this entire motion that you're wondering well, I think that's what he said.

(36:5-6; App. 10-11).

The court also stated that it could rely on its plea colloquy with Mr. Nelson in deciding whether to hold a *Machner* hearing:

And we talked about on page 4 of the [plea hearing] transcript, lines 11 through 18 that -- and the Court said: The plea questionnaire tells me you're intending to plead to the charge of disorderly conduct, use of a dangerous weapon ... as well as -- I'm assuming the domestic abuse enhancer as well; is that correct? You understand that? And you said: I don't like it but I do understand it....

So I don't believe that the record as it exists that you would be entitled to relief just based on the record itself. So at this point I am agreeing with the State that this is a lot of conclusory what if's.

(36:7-9; App. 12-14).

Thereafter, the court stated that it would proceed with taking testimony from Mr. Nelson's trial counsel because there was "a fact in question and that alone would give rise to it." (36:9; App. 14). Moments later, however, the court reversed course again and declared that there were no grounds for testimony because the advice trial counsel allegedly provided to Mr. Nelson—that his conviction could result in a temporary loss of his gun rights—was "correct advice." (36:10; App. 15).

On June 24, 2021, the court entered an order denying Mr. Nelson's motion for postconviction relief

for the reasons stated on the record at the postconviction hearing. (38:1; App. 5).

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. Mr. Nelson is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his postconviction motion to withdraw his guilty pleas.
 - A. General legal principles and standard of review.

A defendant is entitled to withdraw his guilty plea after sentencing when he can show a manifest injustice by clear and convincing evidence. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 311, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). The manifest injustice test is met if the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel. *Id.*

In assessing ineffective assistance of counsel claims in the context of a guilty plea, courts use the classic two-part test delineated in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 58 (1985). Consequently, a defendant must show that counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 312. To prove deficient performance, he must "identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable professional judgment." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690. To establish prejudice, a defendant seeking to withdraw a guilty plea must

show "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 313-314 (citing *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 59).

When reviewing a circuit court's decision to deny a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel without an evidentiary hearing, a reviewing court determines as a matter of law, independently of the circuit court, whether a defendant's motion to withdraw a guilty plea on its face alleges facts which would entitle the to relief. defendant and whether the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is entitled to no relief. State v. Howell, 2007 WI 75, ¶ 78, 301 Wis. 2d 350, 734 N.W.2d 48.

> В. Legal principles regarding the firearms prohibition for persons convicted misdemeanor crimes of domestic violence.

Under federal law, it is unlawful for any person who has been convicted of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence to possess a gun. 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9). A person also may not obtain a concealed carry (CCW) license in Wisconsin if he has been convicted of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence. See Wis. Stat. § 175.60(3)(b).²

² Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 175.60(3)(b), the Wisconsin Department of Justice shall not issue a CCW license to an individual who "is prohibited under federal law from possessing a firearm that has been transported in interstate or foreign commerce."

A misdemeanor crime of domestic violence is a misdemeanor which satisfies the following two prongs: (1) it has, as an element, the use or attempted use of physical force; and (2) it is committed by a person who has at least one of several specified relationships with the victim, including being the victim's spouse or parent. 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(A). Even the "slightest offensive touching" will satisfy the use of force prong. *U.S. v. Castleman*, 572 U.S. 157, 163 (2014).

In Evans v. Wisconsin Dept. of Justice, 2014 WI App 31, 353 Wis. 2d 289, 844 N.W.2d 403, this Court considered whether the defendant's disorderly conduct conviction satisfied the use of force prong. The Court noted that the first element of disorderly conduct ("violent, abusive, indecent, profane, boisterous, unreasonably loud or otherwise disorderly conduct") allows for alternatives. Id., ¶ 10 (emphasis added). Accordingly:

When a statute defines an element in the alternative ... courts consult a "limited class of documents," including charging documents, transcripts of plea colloquies, and jury instructions. The purpose of consulting such documents is "to identify, from among several alternatives, the crime of conviction."

Id., ¶ 18 (internal citations omitted).

This Court held that Evans' conviction satisfied the use of force prong because at the plea hearing he specifically pled guilty to "violent, abusive, and otherwise disorderly conduct," and the term "violent conduct" necessarily implies the use of force. Id., ¶ 12 & n.3. However, the Court indicated that it would have been a closer call if the defendant had been convicted of "violent, abusive, or otherwise disorderly conduct." See id., ¶ 20. Subsequent to Evans, no Wisconsin case has analyzed whether a disorderly conduct conviction meets the use of force prong in this latter context, which is how Mr. Nelson pled guilty to disorderly conduct. (2:1; 26:9, 12).

- C. Mr. Nelson is entitled to a Machner hearing on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.
 - 1. Mr. Nelson properly alleged deficient performance.

Defense counsel has a duty to make a reasonable investigation of the law that may be applicable to the facts of a case. State v. Pico, 2018 WI 66, ¶ 22, 382 Wis. 2d 273, 914 N.W.2d 95. "The duty to investigate is certainly one of the components of effective representation." Id. "Counsel must either reasonably investigate the law and facts or make a reasonable decision that makes strategic any further investigation unnecessary" in order to "meet the constitutional standard for effective assistance." State v. Dillard, 2014 WI 123, ¶ 92, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44.

In this case, Mr. Nelson alleged in his postconviction motion that his trial attorney advised him that pleading guilty to disorderly conduct could result in a temporary rather than permanent loss of

Filed 09-20-2021

his right to possess a gun. This advice from trial counsel clearly demonstrates deficient performance because it is legally incorrect—Mr. Nelson's disorderly conduct conviction would likely result in a permanent prohibition on his ability to possess a gun and obtain a CCW license, and the prohibition could not be temporary.

Under the two-pronged definition of "crime of misdemeanor violence" discussed in section I.B., a court reviewing this issue would likely find that Mr. Nelson's disorderly conduct conviction makes him permanently ineligible for a CCW permit. First, Mr. Nelson's conduct satisfies the relationship prong because the victims of his disorderly conduct were his wife and children. See 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(33)(A).

Second, a court would likely find that Mr. Nelson's conviction was a crime of domestic violence because it was noted in the judgment of conviction that he was pleading guilty to an act of domestic violence under 968.075. Moreover, according to the complaint Mr. Nelson was being "physically restrained" by his children when police arrived at the residence. (2:2, 6). Additionally, although both of Mr. Nelson's children claimed that he was not physically violent towards them (2:4-6), the complaint alleged that Mr. Nelson's wife told police that Mr. Nelson was "beating up" his children (2:2). Thus, relying on either of these facts or the fact that Mr. Nelson's conviction was denoted as an act of domestic abuse under Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a), a court would likely find that Mr. Nelson pled guilty to violent conduct and that his offense satisfies the use of force prong. As noted above, even the "slightest offensive touching" satisfies this prong. *U.S. v. Castleman*, 572 U.S. 157, 163 (2014).

Furthermore, neither federal nor state law provide that the prohibition on gun possession for persons convicted of crimes of domestic violence is merely temporary. *See* 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9); Wis. Stat. § 175.60(3)(b). Rather, the prohibition is permanent; consequently, trial counsel's advice was clearly legally incorrect and therefore deficient.

2. Mr. Nelson properly alleged prejudice.

As stated previously, when a defendant pleads guilty and then seeks plea withdrawal based on ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant shows prejudice if there "is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 59. In assessing whether such a reasonable probability exists, the court should consider objective factual assertions and any special circumstances a defendant alleges that might show why he placed particular emphasis on trial counsel's misinformation in deciding to plead guilty rather than go to trial. *See Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 313-314 (citing *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 60).

In his postconviction motion, Mr. Nelson alleged that he was a longtime gun owner, had worked as a security guard, and that, as a result, it was important to him that he not permanently lose his right to possess a gun. (34:6; App 29). Mr. Nelson further alleged that if trial counsel had not misinformed him regarding the impact of a disorderly conduct conviction on his gun rights, he would not have pled guilty and instead would have insisted on going to a jury trial. (34:7; App. 30). See Lee v. U.S., 137 S.Ct. 1958, 1968-1969 (recognizing that it is rational for a defendant to go to trial in order to avoid a significant collateral consequence even if doing so only slightly reduces the risk of that consequence).

Given these facts, trial counsel's advice resulted in prejudice. All that is required to show prejudice is "a reasonable probability that, but for the counsel's errors, [Mr. Nelson] would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 312; *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 59. Therefore, Mr. Nelson received ineffective assistance of counsel and is entitled to plea withdrawal.

D. The circuit court erred in refusing to hold a *Machner* hearing.

At the postconviction hearing, the court questioned the sufficiency of Mr. Nelson's postconviction motion as follows:

I think the argument that [the State] is trying to make is that there is not enough clarity....

[Mr. Nelson] said he would testify to the following: his trial attorney advised him that pleading guilty to disorderly conduct could have a temporary rather than a permanent effect on his right to possess a firearm.

So what does that mean? That it could be temporary, right? If something is not temporary, then what is it by default? It's permanent. It's either one or the other. It just doesn't go away. It's not nonexistent but -- and that's what we're saying. ... So a lot of these are could's. We don't know yet. There's no definitive fact but did he say it or did he not? Nobody knows.

(36:5-6).

The court's reasoning does not support its decision to deny Mr. Nelson's postconviction motion without a *Machner* hearing. First, advising a client that a disorderly conduct conviction could result in a temporary rather than permanent loss of his gun rights implies that any potential impact of the conviction would be temporary rather permanent. Additionally, as noted in section I.B., this statement clearly misconstrues the law—neither federal law nor state law provide that the prohibition on gun possession for persons convicted of crimes of domestic violence is ever temporary. See 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9); Wis. Stat. § 175.60(3)(b).³

³ At the postconviction hearing, the State claimed that trial counsel's advice on gun rights was correct because a condition of Mr. Nelson's probation was to not possess weapons. (36:14; App. 19). However, Mr. Nelson's postconviction motion alleged that his trial attorney specifically advised that a disorderly conduct conviction could result in a temporary rather than permanent loss of his gun rights—not that pleading guilty to crimes in general could result in a probationary condition to not possess weapons.

Furthermore, the court was incorrect when it labeled Mr. Nelson's allegations as "a lot of conclusory what if's." (36:9; App. 14). To the contrary, Mr. Nelson alleged that trial counsel provided clearly incorrect legal advice and asserted that he would have gone to trial but for this advice. Moreover, he did not offer a conclusory allegation that he would have gone to trial but for trial counsel's incorrect advice—he specifically alleged that he was a longtime gun owner, had worked as a security guard, and that as a result it was important to him that he not permanently lose his right to possess a gun. (34:6; App. 29). As such, his allegation that his plea rested on trial counsel's incorrect advice is supported by objective factual assertions and special circumstances which indicate that he placed particular emphasis on trial counsel's incorrect advice. See Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 313-314 (citing *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 60).

Finally, the court erred when claiming that it could deny the postconviction motion based on its plea colloquy with Mr. Nelson:

And we talked about on page 4 of the [plea hearing] transcript, lines 11 through 18 that -- and the Court said: The plea questionnaire tells me you're intending to plead to the charge of disorderly conduct, use of a dangerous weapon ... as well as -- I'm assuming the domestic abuse enhancer as well; is that correct? You understand that? And you said: I don't like it but I do understand it....

So I don't believe that the record as it exists that you would be entitled to relief just based on the record itself.

(36:7-9; App. 12-14).

For the purposes of deciding whether to hold a Machner hearing in this case, it is irrelevant that the court informed Mr. Nelson he was pleading guilty to an offense which included the domestic abuse modifier/surcharge. Mr. Nelson has not alleged that he was unaware of this information, but rather that he was misadvised by his attorney—off-the-record—of the impact of a disorderly conduct conviction on his gun rights. Nothing in the plea colloquy remedies the misinformation which Mr. Nelson has alleged he received from trial counsel, and as a result nothing in the plea colloguy alleviates the need for a Machner hearing.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Mr. Nelson respectfully requests that this Court reverse the judgment of the circuit court and remand the case to the circuit court for a *Machner* hearing.