FILED
01-05-2022
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appeal No. 2021AP0001133-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

MICHAEL L. NELSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED BY THE KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT IN FILE NO. 2020CM000539, THE HONORABLE LARISA V. BENITEZ-MORGAN PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Carli A. McNeill Deputy District Attorney Kenosha County, Wisconsin Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1081400

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. Whether Mr. Nelson is entitled to a Machner¹ hearing on his ineffective assistance of counsel claim where he specifically alleged that his trial attorney incorrectly advised him that pleading guilty to disorderly conduct could have a temporary rather than permanent effect on his right to possess a firearm and that he was prejudiced by that advice.

The Circuit Court held that Mr. Nelson was not entitled to a *Machner* hearing and denied his postconviction motion.

This Court should affirm the decision of the Circuit Court.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION AND ORAL ARGUMENT

The State does not request oral argument. Oral argument is not necessary because "the briefs fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on each side so that oral argument would be of such marginal value that it does not justify the additional expenditure of court time or cost."

Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b). As this is a one-judge appeal,

¹ State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

a request for publication is prohibited by Wis. Stat. § 809.23(4)(b).

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On April 27, 2020, Michael L. Nelson the Defendant-Appellant was charged in Kenosha County Circuit Court File Number 2020CM000539 with Disorderly Conduct, Domestic Abuse, Use of a Dangerous Weapon (Count 1) in violation of Wis. Stat. §§ 947.01(1), 968.075(1)(a), and 939.63(1)(a); Possession of a Firearm While Intoxicated (Count 2) in violation of Wis. Stat. § 941.20(1)(b); and Resisting an Officer (Count 3) in violation of Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1). (R.2:1-2). On August 4, 2020, pursuant to a plea agreement, Mr. Nelson pled guilty to Counts 1 and 2. (R.26:2, 11-12). Count 3 was dismissed and read-in and the State agreed to recommend at sentencing, probation, free on length and conditions. (R.26:2). On that same day Mr. Nelson was sentenced. (R.26:28-30). The Court placed Mr. Nelson on probation for 2 years with 6 months of conditional jail time on Count 1 and 3 months of conditional jail time concurrent on Count 2. (Id.). The Court also specifically ordered no firearms as a condition of probation: "And you [Mr. Nelson] are not during the

period of your supervision going to be allowed to possess any weapon, including any firearms." (R.26:30).

For the plea and sentencing hearing, the Court used as the factual basis the Criminal Complaint. (R.26:8). Criminal Complaint provided a detailed factual basis for all three counts -- the Disorderly Conduct, Domestic Abuse, Use of a Dangerous and the Possession of a Firearm While Intoxicated charges for which Mr. Nelson was convicted and the Resisting an Officer charge which was dismissed and read-in. (R.2:2-6). According to the Criminal Complaint, on April 26, 2020 at approximately 12:55 am, multiple Officers with the Kenosha Police Department responded to Mr. Nelson's residence where he resided with his wife, T.N., his adult son, K.N., and his adult daughter, V.N. (R.2:2). Multiple of the responding Officers noted that Mr. Nelson appeared intoxicated. (Id.). Mr. Nelson immediately resisted the Officers who were concerned about Mr. Nelson being in possession of a firearm and Mr. Nelson had to be tazed multiple times before Officers were able to handcuff him. (R.2:2-3). Mr. Nelson was found to have been in possession of a Glock 9mm handgun loaded with 15 rounds. (R.2:4).

The Complaint summarizes statements given by T.N., K.N., and V.N. regarding what had occurred at the residence

Page 7 of 18

before police arrived. (R.2:4-6). K.N. indicated that Mr. Nelson was intoxicated and said he wanted to kill himself. (R.2:4). K.N. indicated that Mr. Nelson got in his face then removed a gun from his waistband. (Id.). K.N. stated that Mr. Nelson did not threaten anyone with the gun, but he pointed it at the ceiling and threatened to kill himself if anyone called the police. (Id.). K.N. stated that Mr. Nelson put the gun back in his waistband and K.N. and V.N. attempted to restrain Mr. Nelson while their mother called the police. (R.2:4-5).

T.N. also stated that Mr. Nelson was highly intoxicated. (R.2:5). T.N. stated that Mr. Nelson was "verbally aggressive toward her" and yelling at her. (Id.). T.N. stated that Mr. Nelson called her vulgar names and yelled profanity at her. (Id.). T.N. stated that she went into the bathroom to take a bath hoping that Mr. Nelson would just fall asleep by the time she got out. (Id.). T.N. left the bathroom when she heard Mr. Nelson arguing with K.N. and V.N. (Id.). T.N. stated that she heard what sounded like a loud slap and she saw V.N. holding her face and crying. (Id.). T.N. stated that K.N. looked at her and told her to call 911. (Id.). T.N. stated that Mr. Nelson said if she did he would "blow his head off." (Id.). T.N. stated that she called the police

and went back into the bathroom. (Id.). T.N. did not see Mr. Nelson with a gun and did not see K.N. and V.N. attempting to restrain Mr. Nelson. (Id.).

V.N. provided a statement substantially similar to K.N.'s and T.N's. (R.2:6). She verified that Mr. Nelson had argued with T.N., that he had a handgun and waived it around, that he threatened to kill himself, and that she and K.N. restrained him while waiting for the police to come. (Id.).

On April 19, 2021, Mr. Nelson by his attorney David Malkus, filed a postconviction motion seeking to withdraw his guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel. (R.34). In the motion, Mr. Nelson indicated that he would testify that his trial attorney advised him that pleading guilty to disorderly conduct could have a temporary rather than permanent effect on his right to possess a firearm. (R.34:5). Mr. Nelson alleged that this was deficient performance and that he was prejudiced by this deficient performance as he would have taken the case to trial rather than entering a plea if he knew the possibility that his plea would result in a permanent loss of his right to possess a firearm. (R.34:5-7).

On June 11, 2021, a hearing was held on this motion and the Circuit Court denied the motion without testimony being taken from either Mr. Nelson or his trial court attorney. (R.36). The Court decided that the motion was not properly pled as, based on the wording of the motion, the advice that Mr. Nelson's trial attorney gave him was actually correct. (R.36:10-11).

The Court entered a written order denying the motion on June 24, 2021 (R.38). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

1. The Circuit Court appropriately denied Mr. Nelson's ineffective assistance of counsel claim without holding a Machner hearing because Mr. Nelson's postconviction motion did not allege facts sufficient to show deficient performance of his trial court attorney.

A. Standard of Review

"Whether a defendant's [postconviction motion] . . .

'on its face alleges facts which would entitle the

defendant to relief' and whether the record conclusively

demonstrates that the defendant is entitled to no relief'

are questions of law that [an appellate court] review[s] de

novo." State v. Sulla, 2016 WI 46, ¶ 23, 369 Wis. 2d 225,

880 N.W.2d 659 (citation omitted). If the motion does not

allege sufficient facts that would entitle the defendant to

relief, or relies on conclusory allegations, or the record

conclusively refutes the defendant's claims, the circuit court has discretion to deny the motion without a hearing. State v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 9, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433.

B. Defendants seeking to withdraw their guilty pleas by claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must allege sufficient facts in the motion to establish both deficient performance and prejudice.

When a defendant seeks to withdraw his guilty plea after sentencing, the defendant must prove "manifest injustice" by clear and convincing evidence. State v. Shata, 2015 WI 74, ¶ 29, 364 Wis. 2d 63, 868 N.W.2d 93. "Ineffective assistance of counsel is one type of manifest injustice." Id.

Ineffective assistance claims are evaluated using the two-pronged test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). To prevail under Strickland, a defendant must prove that his counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. "To prove deficient performance, a defendant must show specific acts or omissions of counsel that are 'outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance.'" State v. Arredondo, 2004 WI App 7, ¶ 24, 269 Wis. 2d 369, 674 N.W.2d 647 (citation omitted). To prove prejudice, the defendant must show that "there is a reasonable probability

that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." State v. Romero-Georgana, 2014 WI 83, ¶ 41, 360 Wis. 2d 522, 849 N.W.2d 668.

C. Mr. Nelson's postconviction motion failed to allege sufficient facts to demonstrate deficient performance and, as a result, was appropriately denied by the Circuit Court without a Machner hearing.

In his postconviction motion, Mr. Nelson indicated that he would testify that his trial attorney advised him that pleading guilty to disorderly conduct could have a temporary rather than permanent effect on his right to possess a firearm. (R.34:5). Far from being deficient, this advice is actually legally correct.

In both the postconviction motion and DefendantAppellant's Brief, Mr. Nelson acknowledges that it is in no
way certain that his conviction for Disorderly Conduct,

Domestic Abuse, Use of a Dangerous Weapon guarantees that
he will be barred from possessing a firearm under federal
law. (R.34:3-4; Nelson's Br. 11-13). Mr. Nelson cites the
case of Evans v. Wisconsin Dept. of Justice, 2014 WI App
31, 353 Wis. 2d 289, 844 N.W.2d 403, in which this Court
considered whether Evans was properly denied a concealed
carry license due to a Disorderly Conduct conviction. Id.

 \P 1. This Court addressed the issue of whether that

Disorderly Conduct conviction had as an element the use of force so that Evans would have been barred from possessing a firearm under federal law and therefore barred from obtaining a concealed carry permit under state law. Id. ¶¶ 8-25. The Evans Court decided that his disorderly conduct conviction did have as an element the use of physical force. Id. ¶ 8. The Court in its analysis relied on the fact that Evans was convicted based on the element of "violent, abuse, and otherwise disorderly conduct." Id. ¶ 20.

In contrast, here, Mr. Nelson pled to the charge in the Criminal Complaint which defined the offense as engaging in "violent, abusive, indecent, profane, boisterous, unreasonably loud, or otherwise disorderly conduct." (R.2:1). This is also the wording that the Circuit Court used to define the offense in the plea colloquy. (R.26:9). Because Mr. Nelson pled to Disorderly Conduct in the disjunctive where the term "or" was used rather than in the conjunctive where the term "and" was used, his case is distinguishable from Evans. And because his case is distinguishable from Evans and there appears to be no other binding authority on point, it is not clear or certain that Mr. Nelson's Disorderly Conduct conviction

would permanently prevent him from legally possessing a firearm under federal law.

The issue in this appeal is in some ways analogous to that in State v. Shata, 2015 WI 74, 364 Wis.2d 63, 868 N.W.2d 93. Shata involved an ineffective assistance of counsel claim as it related to advice about the immigration consequences of a quilty plea. Id. $\P\P$ 2-3. In the Shata case, Shata's attorney advised that his guilty plea carried a "strong chance" of deportation. Id. \P 22. Shata argued that because his conviction clearly made him deportable that the advice was deficient because there is a difference between a "strong chance" and "absolute certainty." Id. ¶ 53. However, the Wisconsin Supreme Court noted that just because the conviction made Shata deportable that did not mean that the conviction would necessarily result in deportation as that depends on things like prosecutorial discretion and a particular government administration's policies on deportation. Id. $\P\P$ 59-60. The Wisconsin Supreme Court concluded "[b] ecause deportation is not an absolutely certain consequence of a conviction for a deportable offense, Padilla does not require an attorney to advise an alien client that deportation is an absolute certainty upon conviction of a deportable offense...." Id. ¶ 60. Ultimately the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that

Shata's attorney did not perform deficiently because the advice he gave was correct. Id. \P 79.

Here, the advice that Mr. Nelson challenges -- that his trial attorney advised him that pleading guilty to disorderly conduct could have a temporary rather than permanent effect on his right to possess a firearm -- is correct. Just as it was not certain that Shata would be deported as a result of his conviction, it is also not certain that Mr. Nelson will be permanently prevented from possessing a firearm as a result of his conviction. It is possible that a Court would view Mr. Nelson's conviction as distinguishable from the Disorderly Conduct conviction at issue in Evans and conclude that Mr. Nelson's conviction does not fall within the federal firearm prohibition. Because it is a matter of interpretation and not certain that Mr. Nelson's conviction will result in a permanent prohibition on his right to possess a firearm the advice that Mr. Nelson was purportedly given is correct.

Finally, Mr. Nelson appears to argue that his trial attorney's advice was deficient because if he was prohibited under federal law from possessing a firearm that prohibition would be permanent, not temporary. (Nelson's Br. 15). However, what was pled in the postconviction motion was that Mr. Nelson would testify that his trial

attorney advised him that pleading guilty to disorderly conduct could have a temporary rather than permanent effect on his right to possess a firearm. (R.34:5). The postconviction motion does not assert that Mr. Nelson's attorney told him that the federal ban on the possession of firearms for persons convicted of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence is temporary or expires after some length of time.

As a result of his plea to Counts 1 and 2 in the Criminal Complaint, Mr. Nelson was placed on probation and specifically ordered as a condition of probation that he could not possess firearms. So, his right to possess a firearm has been temporarily affected by his plea including his plea to the Disorderly Conduct charge consistent with the advice given by his attorney. Once again, the advice of Mr. Nelson's trial attorney as described in the postconviction motion is correct.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Nelson's postconviction motion failed to allege sufficient facts to demonstrate deficient performance. In fact, the advice Mr. Nelson points to as deficient is actually accurate legal advice. As a result, the postconviction motion was appropriately denied by the

Circuit Court without a Machner hearing. For all of the reasons stated above, the Respondent respectfully requests this Court to affirm the order denying Mr. Nelson's postconviction motion.